IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC02-1580

Eddie Wayne Davis

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT FOR POLK COUNTY,
STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Richard E. Kiley
Florida Bar No. 0558893
Assistant CCRC-Middle
CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL
COUNSEL MIDDLE REGION
3801 Corporex Park Drive
Suite 210
Tampa, FL 33619
(813) 740-3544
COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

I. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

Mr. Davis had been charged by indictment on April 7, 1994, with one count of first degree murder, one count of burglary with assault, one count of kidnapping of a child under 13 and one count of sexual battery on a child under 12, in the Circuit Court for the Tenth Judicial Circuit of Florida. (R.Vol. I - 3).

Mr. Davis was tried between May 22, 1995, and June 1, 1995. The jury returned a verdict of guilty on all four counts . (R. Vol. XVIII - 2157).

The same jury reconvened between June 6, 1995, and June 9, 1995, for penalty phase proceedings. The court sentenced Mr. Davis on June 30, 1995, upholding the jury's recommendation of the death sentence for the first degree murder conviction.

(PCR. Vol. I - 166).

The court sentenced Mr. Davis to a life sentence with a minimum mandatory of twenty-five (25) years without parole on count 4 to run consecutive to count 1 if count 1 would ever be reduced to a life sentence. On count 2, Mr. Davis was sentenced to 19 years Florida State Prison. On count 3, Mr. Davis was sentenced to 19 years Florida State Prison. The sentences imposed on counts 2,3 and 4 were to run concurrently. The trial court further found Mr. Davis to be a sexual predator under Section 775.21, Florida Statutes. (1994). Mr. Davis was sentenced by the Honorable Daniel True Andrews, Tenth Judicial Circuit, Polk County, who was also the trial judge.

On June 5, 1997, the Florida Supreme Court affirmed the judgement of guilt and sentence of death. <u>Davis v. State</u>, 698 So.2d 1182 (Fla. 1997). The rehearing was denied on September 11, 1997.

The Florida Supreme Court issued a Mandate on October 13, 1997.

The United States Supreme Court denied Mr. Davis' petition for certiorari on February 23, 1998. <u>Davis v. Florida</u>, 522 U.S. 1127, 118 S. Ct. 1076. 140 L. Ed.2d 134 (1998).

The first motion to vacate judgement of conviction and sentence was filed on May 27, 1998 by CCRC Middle region.

Mr. Davis' Request for Production of Public Records has been pending since September 9, 1998.

Mr. Davis' Pro Se Motion to Dismiss Counsel was filed January 27, 1999. Hearing was set for May 21, 1999.

An Order to set post conviction relief deadlines was filed on June 4, 1999. A deadline was set for March 31, 2000, to file final motion.

On January 4, 2000, this deadline was extended to May 31, 2000.

The deadline was subsequently extended until June 23, 2000.

On June 23, 2000, Mr. Davis' FIRST AMENDED MOTION TO VACATE JUDGEMENT OF CONVICTION AND SENTENCES WITH SPECIAL REQUEST FOR LEAVE TO AMEND AND FOR EVIDENTIARY HEARING was filed with the trial court.

On January 25, 2001, a Huff hearing was held at the Polk County Courthouse, Courtroom 8A, before the Honorable Randall G. McDonald, Judge of the above styled cause.

On January 30, 2001, the court entered an order styled:
ORDER GRANTING IN PART AND DENYING IN PART DEFENDANT'S REQUEST
FOR AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING ON HIS FIRST AMENDED MOTION TO VACATE
JUDGMENTS AND SENTENCES.

Mr. Davis was granted an evidentiary hearing on claims IB, IC, IE, IIA (as orally amended), IIB, IIC (to the extent the

defendant will be permitted to present testimony by his expert on post traumatic stress disorder), IIE, IIF, IIG, III, V, and VII (based on cumulative errors derived from the matters the Court has permitted a hearing on).

On October 8 & 9, 2001, an evidentiary hearing was held before the Honorable Randall McDonald in the Circuit Court of the Tenth Judicial Circuit.

On June 11, 2002, Judge McDonald entered an order denying Mr. Davis' First Amended Motion To Vacate Judgment Of Convictions and Sentences.

This appeal follows.

II. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

An evidentiary hearing was held on October 8 & 9 on claims IB, IC, IE, IIA (as orally amended), IIB, IIC (to the extent the defendant will be permitted to present testimony by his expert on post traumatic stress disorder), IIE, IIF, IIG, III, V, and VII (based on cumulative errors derived from the matters the court had permitted a hearing on). (PCR. Vol.II -III 282-410). Claim IB alleged that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to adequately investigate the criminal past of a key witness, Eddie Arnold Davis and to impeach his testimony at trial. Claim IC alleged that trial counsel was ineffective for failure to present the defense of voluntary intoxication as a valid defense

to first degree murder. Claim IE alleged that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to investigate or prepare on the issue of DNA evidence. Claim IIA was orally amended to allege that counsel was ineffective for failing to call Alicia Riggall during the penalty phase of the trial. Claim IIB alleged that counsel was ineffective for failing to call Eddie Wayne Davis to testify at the penalty phase of the trial. Claim IIC alleged that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to present any evidence or expert testimony on the issue of the defendant having suffered post traumatic stress. Claim IIE alleged that trial counsel was ineffective by failing to provide any physical evidence of organic brain damage in preparation for the penalty phase of Mr. Davis' trial. Claim IIF alleged that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to call Brenda Reincke to testify at the penalty phase of the trial. Claim IIG alleged that trial counsel was ineffective by failing to move for a competency evaluation during the penalty phase of the trial, or in the alternative, for failing to make a motion to instruct the jury that Mr. Davis was under the influence of a psychotropic drug during the penalty phase of the trial. Claim III alleged that Mr. Davis did not make a knowing intelligent and voluntary waiver of his right to conflict free counsel. Claim V alleged that trial counsel was ineffective by failing to subject the prosecution's case to meaningful adversarial testing in the guilt phase of the defendant's trial by conceding guilt without consultation. Claim VII alleged ineffective assistance of counsel based on cumulative errors derived from the matters the trial court had permitted a hearing on.

EVIDENTIARY HEARING FACTS

A. TESTIMONY OF AUSTIN MASLANIK

Austin Maslanik testified that he was the lead attorney on Mr. Davis' case and was employed by the Office of the Public Defender during the entirety of his representation. (PCR. Vol. IV-503). Maslanik stated that he reviewed all the depositions taken in the case and took notes through out the trial. (PCR. Vol. IV - 504). He stated that he had used an integrated defense in Mr. Davis' case and had started the integrated defense in jury selection. (PCR. Vol. IV-505). Maslanik also testified that he had tried numerous capital sexual battery cases and in his experience, defendants were also abused as children. (PCR. Vol. IV - 506). He testified that although he suspected that Mr. Davis had been abused sexually, he could not pinpoint a time when he suspected the abuse. (PCR, Vol. IV - 506).

Mr. Maslanik also testified that although his pre trial investigation revealed that Mr. Davis was a longtime alcoholic,

was exposed to moonshine liquor as a toddler, was stealing at an early age to get alcoholic beverages, and was extremely intoxicated at the time of the offense, trial counsel did not call an expert in first phase to support the defense of voluntary intoxication. (PCR. Vol. IV 507-508). Dr. McClain, was a psychiatrist who had some special training and experience in the area of pharmacology and Dr. McClain could have been qualified as an expert as to voluntary intoxication in the guilt (PCR. Vol. IV - 510). Mr. Maslanik also testified that calling an expert in the first phase of the trial in regards to the voluntary intoxication as to Mr. Davis' guilt on the charge of first degree murder, would not have been inconsistent with his strategy in the penalty phase of the trial. (PCR. Vol. -In regards to Mr. Davis being questioned by the trial court as to his taking the stand in penalty phase, Maslanik stated that the trial court usually questions the defendant as to whether or not the defendant wants to take the stand in penalty phase and then the defendant responds to the trial court. (PCR. Vol. IV - 513). Mr. Maslanik could not recall if information regarding Mr. Davis' sexual abuse as a child was provided to Dr. McClain. (PCR. Vol. IV - 515). Mr. Maslanik testified that he was provided a prison number by Eddie Arnold Davis, yet nothing was done to investigate his prison number case. (PCR. - 516). Mr. Maslinik further testified that parts of Eddie Arnold Davis' testimony were not helpful to his son and that had Maslanik impeached Eddie Arnold Davis with his prior felony conviction, Eddie Arnold Davis' credibility as a witness may have diminished his credibility before the jury. IV - 517). Maslanik further testified on redirect examination that in his opinion, Mr. Davis was highly intoxicated at the time of the incident and he doubted that he remember everything that happened that night, and Maslanik was sure that there are things in his confessions that Davis made up to fill in the spaces or maybe were suggested by other people. Whether it was suggested by police or other people, Maslanik did not know. (PCR. Vol. - 543).

B. TESTIMONY OF TONI MALONEY

Toni Maloney is a private investigator who was employed by the Public Defender's Office at the time of Mr. Davis' trial. Maloney worked with Austin Maslanik and Bob Norgard in the defense of Eddie Wayne Davis in 1994/1995. (PCR. Vol. IV - 548). Maloney's opinion as to Mr. Davis' competency during trial was based solely visual observations. (PCR. Vol. IV - 550). She was never asked to talk to him during the trial to assess his competence. (PCR. Vol. IV - 550). Maloney testified that she wouldn't have been surprised if Mr. Davis was medicated

during trial. (PCR. Vol. IV - 551). Maloney testified that due to the passage of time, she could not tell the trial court if Mr. Davis was medicated during the trial, if he was medicated in the middle of the trial, or if he was medicated at the conclusion of the guilt phase of the trial and the commencement of the penalty phase of the trial. (PCR. Vol. IV - 552).

C. TESTIMONY OF DOCTOR MICHAEL MAHER

Dr. Michael Maher is a physician and psychiatrist who testified at the evidentiary hearing. He was tendered as an expert in the field of forensic psychiatry with no voir dire by the State. (PCR. Vol. IV - 556). Dr. Maher examined Mr. Davis on June 19, 2000. (PCR. Vol IV - 557). Upon examining Mr. Davis, Dr. Maher noted that Mr. Davis had some very limited coordination findings. (PCR. Vol. IV - 558). Dr. Maher testified that Porphyria is a metabolic disease that is related to the way the body chemically processes blood and blood products. It can result in a toxic condition when the metabolic products are not fully and properly processed by the body. (PCR. Vol. IV - 558-59). There are a variety of symptoms that can be exhibited, but they tend to particularly include mental confusion, disorientation, poor judgment, irritability, impulsiveness. Poor coordination is another thing that can occur, and under severe circumstances, coma can occur. (PCR.

Vol. IV - 559). There are specific metabolic tests used in the testing for Porphyria, however, Dr. Maher was not familiar with the biochemical details of those tests. (PCR. Vol. IV - 559). Dr. Maher testified that given the neurological damage to Mr. Davis, it is possible that he was suffering from Porphyria and never tested for that. (PCR. Vol. IV - 559). As a result of his examination, Dr. Maher came to the conclusion that Mr. Davis was suffering from very substantial mental impairment that was related both to his acute intoxication at the time, and to underlying subtle but significant brain dysfunction associated with early exposure to alcohol and to being a chronic alcoholic. (PCR. Vol. IV - 560). In regards to memory, Dr. Maher testified that the normal process of memory and particularly the process of memory under circumstances of distress or impairment function much less like a video camera recording in a chronological sequence, events, and much more like a snapshot camera or a still camera taking momentary pictures of particular parts of an event, storing those, sometimes with a great deal of detail, and then upon recall, reconstructing them into a chronologically logical and consistent story, which may be related more like a video recording, but is drawn from what might be called snapshot memories. (PCR. Vol. IV - 561). Dr Maher opined that Mr. Davis does not have a clear, chronologically consistent, logical,

rational memory of the events associated with the offense. (PCR. Vol. IV - 563). Dr. Maher further went on to explain Korsakoff's Syndrome. Korsakoff Syndrome is a type of brain impairment and brain dysfunction which occurs in alcoholics, primarily in people with particular kinds of brain injury. People suffer from Korsakoff Syndrome engage confabulation. They answer questions and describe stories in a way that sound like it is logical, but in fact, they have very little memory of what they're being asked of, and they fill in the spaces of their absent memory simply by making things up as they go along. (PCR. Vol.IV- 563-64). When asked if someone were to suggest to Mr. Davis that he had taken the child to a trailer, would Mr. Davis make up the fact that he did, when in fact there is no physical evidence to substantiate that the victim was ever in the trailer, Dr. Maher testified that Mr. Davis may very well make it up. That's the kind of thing that an individual in this type of impaired state of memory might make up. Dr. Maher further opined that it might be that he feels and believes that that must have happened, and in fact, becomes convinced that Davis is reporting his own memory accurately when, in fact, he is doing nothing of the sort. (PCR. Vol. IV - 564). Dr. Maher testified that with regard to Davis' alcohol intoxication, at the time of the offense, Davis

sufficiently impaired that his capacity to commit premeditated acts, specifically acts of murder, was very significantly impaired. (PCR. Vol. IV - 564). In regards to Davis' statements which were not only inconsistent with each other but also were inconsistent with other physical evidence, Dr. Maher opined that these stories are more consistent with a disorganized, impulsive attempt to put together fragmented memories and impressions into a story that makes some sense to Davis at the time of the telling of the story, and that's absolutely consistent with what would be seen in somebody who is impaired and confabulating. (PCR. Vol. IV - 567). In regards to the details of the two confessions, Dr. Maher was unable to determine if Mr. Davis remembered the detail, or was remembering what he was told by law enforcement. (PCR. Vol. IV - 575). Dr. Maher further opined that at some point, it is very likely that Mr. Davis became convinced that certain things that did not happen, did in fact happen. And he then has a memory of their happening, which was not of an original physical event, but of his developing the belief that they happened. remembering a story rather than an event, but he's remembering it as if it is a true event. (PCR. Vol. IV - 575-76). Maher testified that chronic alcoholics have poor impulse control and that would be one of the important factors in

supporting his conclusion that Mr. Davis did not have the requisite intent to commit first-degree murder. (PCR. Vol. IV -576-77).

D. TESTIMONY OF ROBERT NORGARD

Robert Norgard, along with Austin Maslanik represented Eddie Wayne Davis at his trial. (PCR. Vol. IV - 584). Robert Norgard could not recall ever having any conversations with Eddie Wayne Davis about whether he would testify in either the guilt phase of the trial or the penalty phase of the trial. (PCR. Vol. IV - 587). Mr. Norgard testified that in regards to the theory of the case based on the facts presented, discussions regarding the theory of the case would have been with Austin Maslanik only, no direct communication with Mr. Davis on that level would have taken place. (PCR. Vol. IV - 588). Mr. Norgard testified that he knew that Mr. Davis was prescribed Sinequan during the trial and that Mr. Davis was becoming agitated during the course of the proceedings. (PCR. Vol. IV - 591). Mr. Norgard did not ask for the standard jury instruction on psychotropic medication . He did not ask for a special jury instruction as to a drug such as Sinequan, and at one point Mr. Norgard requested the court to be allowed to testify as to Mr. Davis' reaction to the evidence as a way of mitigation, and that request was denied based on the state's objection. (PCR. Vol.

IV - 591).

E. TESTIMONY OF DOCTOR SHERRI BOURG - CARTER

Dr. Sherri Bourg - Carter was qualified as an expert forensic psychologist and expert in post traumatic stress disorder and in the area of child sexual abuse. (PCR. Vol. IV - 604). Dr. Carter saw Mr. Davis on 6/13/00 in order to assess allegations Davis had made of sexual abuse both as an adult and as a child, and to determine how credible or reasonable those allegations were and what effect, if any did those experiences have on his functioning. (PCR. Vol. IV - 604-05). Dr. Carter testified that she found documentation in DOC records that Mr. Davis was sexually abused as a child and that Mr. Davis was sexually assaulted in prison . (PCR. Vol. IV - 607). In regards to his first childhood experience of sexual abuse, Mr. Davis stated that the first time was about when Davis was ten or eleven years old, he could not be sure, his stepfather was drunk, his mother was not in the home. Mr. Davis was in his room and the stepfather came into his room, grabbed Mr. Davis by the neck, threw Mr. Davis on the bed and said "don't anything", and then proceeded to rape Mr. Davis anally. Davis reported that the anal rape resulted in rectal bleeding. It resulted in some difficulties over the next couple of days going to the bathroom. (PCR. Vol. IV - 608). Dr. Carter

opined that this incident of sexual abuse was real. that opinion on the fact that there's a lot of factors to see if someone is just telling you they've been sexually abused for secondary gain or if it's more likely that they have actually been sexually abused. One thing that Dr. Carter tries to do in determining whether a person has been sexually abused, is to get defendants to endorse things that are not really common in sexual abuse cases, but the defendants who haven't been sexually abused don't know that and defendants readily endorse it because Dr. Carter suggests it. Dr. Carter reported that Mr. Davis didn't "buy those things." Dr. Carter then testified that Mr. Davis did not go along with any of the normal false information that she gives people. Davis did add information that most people do not think to add when the have not been sexually abused, but they are trying to act as if they have been. Vol. IV - 609). Dr. Carter further testified that when Mr. Davis recalled the abuse suffered by him at the hands of his stepfather, Mr. Davis had what is known as intrusive thoughts, smells came to him of how his stepfather smelled when Mr. Davis was being assaulted. (PCR. Vol. IV - 610). Dr. Carter further testified that when she was talking to Mr. Davis at the correctional facility, Mr. Davis, although he had been convicted and sentenced, was very reluctant to talk about the childhood abuse. Dr. Carter testified that when people would pass by in the hallway, Mr. Davis would stop talking and put his head down as if he didn't want anybody to hear what he was telling Dr. According to Dr. Carter, it is very hard to fake that kind of effect, that kind of emotion when you are talking about an experience unless Mr. Davis actually had the experience. (PCR. Vol. IV - 611). The fact that Mr. Davis became extremely uncomfortable in going into the actual details of the sexual child abuse, was indicative of someone who has actually had the experience as opposed to feigning the experience. discomfort was evidenced by the fact that Mr. Davis cried during the time he was disclosing the abuse. (PCR. Vol. IV -612). Dr. Carter also interviewed Mr. Davis' mother in an attempt to gain additional history regarding Mr. Davis. Davis's mother, one Glenda Parker, stated in retrospect, there are red flags that she probably should have noticed or should have paid more attention to in regards to sexual abuse of Mr. Davis. (PCR. Vol. IV - 613). Dr. Carter also testified as to the exposure to alcohol that Mr. Davis experienced. Parker told Dr. Carter that when Mr. Davis was four years old Glenda Parker had gone into a store and had left Mr. Davis with the stepfather and an uncle, and when Parker came out of the store, Mr. Davis could not walk. Eddie Davis was stumbling,

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