IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

EDDIE WAYNE DAVIS,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC02-1580 Lower Tribunal No. CF 94-1248 A1-

XX STATE OF FLORIDA

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR POLK COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

/

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

CANDANCE M. SABELLA Chief - Assistant Attorney

Florida Bar No. 0445071 Westwood Center 2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700 Tampa, Florida 33607 (813) 801-0600 (813) 356-1292 Facsimile

General

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Davis first claims that counsel was ineffective for failing to insist that the court inquire as to whether Davis wanted to take the witness stand during the penalty phase of his trial and that it was fundamental error to allow defense counsel to waive Davis' right to testify. To the extent that Davis is asserting fundamental error occurred by allowing defense counsel to waive Davis' right to testify, it is procedurally barred as a direct appeal issue. As for Davis' claim of ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to obtain an on-the-record waiver, it is the state's contention that this claim was properly denied as Davis has not shown either deficient performance or prejudice with regard to this claim.

Appellant acknowledges that trial counsel presented two mental health experts who testified that Davis was suffering from post traumatic stress syndrome, but urges that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to present any evidence or expert testimony on the issue of the defendant having suffered post traumatic stress due to extensive sexual abuse. Given the fact that counsel presented three mental health experts, two of which were able to reach a conclusion that Davis suffered from post traumatic stress disorder and given the fact that trial court agreed that the defendant may have suffered from post

traumatic stress disorder and found the statutory mental mitigator that was being urged by trial counsel, Davis is unable to establish that counsel's performance was deficient or that he suffered any prejudice from the failure to present additional expert testimony.

Appellant's next claim is that counsel was ineffective for failing to present an expert on the defense of voluntary intoxication and for failing to request an instruction on the defense. Given Davis' numerous confessions detailing the events of the crime and the absence of any evidence at trial or during the evidentiary hearing that would mandate a finding that Davis was so intoxicated that he was incapable of forming the requisite intent, Davis has not established deficient performance or a reasonable probability that the jury would not have found him guilty of first-degree murder even if it had been presented with expert testimony and given an instruction on voluntary intoxication.

While conceding that trial counsel filed a motion to suppress the statements made by Davis, Davis next argues that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to argue the inherent unreliability of Davis' confessions in his motion to suppress statements or by presenting witnesses to same at trial. This claim was summarily denied as procedurally barred. Even if this

claim was properly before this Court, Davis is not entitled to relief as he has not established that counsel's performance was deficient performance and that he was prejudiced by the failure to challenge the statement's "inherent unreliability."

Davis' next claim is that Florida's capital sentencing statute is unconstitutional and is procedurally barred. Moreover, even if this claim was not procedurally barred, it is without merit.

Davis next argues that it would violate the Eighth Amendment's prohibition against cruel and unusual punishment to execute him since he may be incompetent at the time of execution. As this issue is premature it should be denied.

Davis' next claim asserts that the combined effect of all alleged errors in this case warrants a new trial and/or penalty phase. The claim must be rejected because none of the allegations demonstrate any error, individually or collectively.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

WHETHER THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN HOLDING THAT TRIAL COUNSEL WAS NOT INEFFECTIVE FOR FAILING TO REQUEST THAT THE COURT INQUIRE OF EDDIE WAYNE DAVIS AS TO WHETHER DAVIS WANTED TO TAKE THE WITNESS STAND IN THE PENALTY PHASE OF HIS TRIAL.

Davis first claims that counsel was ineffective for failing to insist that the court inquire as to whether Davis wanted to take the witness stand during the penalty phase of his trial and that it was fundamental error to allow defense counsel to waive Davis' right to testify.

Upon rejection of this claim after an evidentiary hearing, the lower court made the following findings:

IIB. Trial Counsel was ineffective for failing to call Eddie Wayne Davis to testify at the penalty phase of the trial.

Davis contends that trial counsel did not request the Court to inquire of the Defendant as to whether he wanted to testify in the penalty phase. Davis contends he could have testified in the penalty phase as to his state of mind at the time of the killing, as well as his fear and anxiety of homosexual rape and sexual abuse. Davis relies on <u>Deaton v. Dugger</u>, 635 So. 2d 4 (Fla. 1993).

In <u>Deaton</u>, the trial judge concluded that because failed counsel to adequately his investigate mitigation, Deaton's waiver of his right to testify and call witnesses was not knowingly, voluntarily and intelligent. Here, trial counsel did call witnesses present sufficient mitigation evidence. and Additionally, there was no testimony presented that Davis affirmatively requested to testify in the

penalty phase, and his attorneys failed to call him as a witness. During the guilt phase, the Court did inquire of the Defendant whether he wanted to testify, and made Defendant aware that whether or not to testify was completely his decision. (R. at 2009). Based on the above factors, this claim is DENIED.

To the extent that Davis is asserting that fundamental error occurred by allowing defense counsel to waive Davis' right to testify, it is procedurally barred as a direct appeal issue. The factual basis of this claim, as asserted by Davis, was readily apparent from the record and, therefore, could have been raised on direct appeal. As it is not properly raised in this proceeding and as a motion for post conviction relief is not to be used as a second appeal, this claim should be rejected as procedurally barred. <u>Rutherford v. State</u>, 727 So. 2d 216 (Fla. 1998); Robinson v. State, 707 So. 2d 688, 690 n.2, 690 (Fla. 1998); <u>Clark v. State</u>, 690 So. 2d 1280, 1282 n.3 (Fla. 1997); Chandler v. Dugger, 634 So. 2d 1066, 1069 (Fla. 1994). Moreover, as will be shown below, the claim is simply without merit and no error, fundamental or otherwise, has been shown. See Lawrence v. State, 831 So. 2d 121 (Fla. 2002) (due process does not require that the Defendant waive his right to testify on-the-record.)

As for Davis' claim of ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to obtain an on-the-record waiver, it is the state's

contention that this claim was properly denied as Davis has not shown either deficient performance or prejudice with regard to this claim. In <u>Oisorio v. State</u>, 676 So. 2d 1363, 1364-1365 (Fla. 1996), this Court rejected the notion that there was a *per se* rule of prejudice and held that in order to obtain postconviction relief, a defendant claiming his or her right to testify was violated must show that counsel's performance was deficient and that the deficient performance prejudiced the defense. As the following will establish, Davis has neither established deficient performance nor prejudice with regard to this claim and is not entitled to relief.

First, as previously noted, there is no legal requirement that counsel obtain an on-the-record waiver of the right to testify. This Court in <u>Lawrence v. State</u>, 831 So. 2d 121 (Fla. 2002), has recently rejected a claim of an ineffective assistance of counsel claim where defense counsel failed to inform Lawrence of his right to testify and to obtain an on-the-record waiver of that right, stating:

In addition, the Defendant erroneously contends that counsel should have obtained the waiver of his right to testify on-the-record to ensure that the waiver was knowing and intelligent. However, due process does not require that the Defendant waive his right to testify on-the-record. See <u>Torres-Arboledo v.</u> <u>State</u>, 524 So. 2d 403, 410-411 (Fla. 1988). <u>See also</u> <u>Carmichael v. State</u>, 715 So. 2d 247, 255 (Fla. 1998) (Pariente, J., concurring in result only). Therefore,

the Defendant has failed to demonstrate either a deficient performance by counsel or the probability of a different outcome based on counsel's actions.

The record of the evidentiary hearing supports the trial judge's findings. Lawrence contends that this Court should adopt a rule requiring a record waiver of the right to testify. As he acknowledges, this Court has considered and rejected this claim. See Occhicone <u>v. State</u>, 570 So. 2d 902 (Fla. 1990); <u>State v.</u> 996 <u>Singletary</u>, 549 So. 2d (Fla. 1989); Torres-Arboledo v. State, 524 So. 2d 403, 410-11 (Fla. 1988). Therefore, we affirm the trial court's denial of this ineffective assistance of counsel claim.

<u>Id.</u>

As this Court noted in <u>Lawrence</u>, the claim that an on-therecord waiver is necessary has been considered and rejected time and again, <u>Id.</u>, <u>Occhicone v. State</u>, 570 So. 2d 902 (Fla. 1990); <u>State v. Singletary</u>, 549 So. 2d 996 (Fla. 1989); <u>Torres-Arboledo v. State</u>, 524 So. 2d 403, 410-11 (Fla. 1988), and Davis has not presented any basis for this Court to reverse this position. Accordingly, since the law does not require an on-the-record waiver, counsel's performance cannot be deemed deficient for failing to obtain one. <u>Lawrence</u>.

Moreover, Davis has not established prejudice. "It is not enough to say that the defendant would have testified, but for the incorrect advice of counsel. To show prejudice, the defendant must also show that the testimony at issue would likely have changed the outcome of the case." <u>Odom v. State</u>, 782 So. 2d 510, 513 (Fla. 1st DCA 2001), (Padavano, J., concurring.)

<u>See also Maharaj v. State</u>, 778 So. 2d 944, 958 (Fla. 2000) (where defendant did not testify at the evidentiary hearing or proffer any proposed testimony, defense failed to demonstrate deficient performance and prejudice under <u>Strickland</u>); <u>Demurjian</u> <u>v. State</u>, 727 So. 2d 324, 327 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999)(No prejudice shown where confession detailing his self-defense claim was before the jury and numerous statements were inconsistent.)

In the instant case, Davis did not testify at the evidentiary hearing and he did not present any evidence that he wanted to testify, what the substance of that testimony would be or that he was not informed that he had the right to testify in the penalty phase.¹ Nevertheless, he relies upon the completely unsupported conclusion that "it is uncontroverted that Mr. Davis was unaware that he had the ultimate right to decide whether or not to testify at the penalty phase" and that "his own counsel

THE COURT: Okay, this is your decision?

¹ The record shows an on-the-record waiver of the right to testify during the guilt phase: THE COURT: What I need to know from you is whether or not you want to testify. It's got to be your decision. Do you want to tell your side? If you do, then I read the jury an instruction saying that they're to weigh your testimony like they do any other witnesses. If you choose not to testify, I will read an instruction telling the jurors they're not to in any way hold that against you, because it's your right not to testify. Do you understand that? THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir. THE COURT: Mr. Davis, what do you want to do?

THE DEFENDANT: I don't want to testify, sir.

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir. (TR. 17/2008-2009)

failed to inform him of his right to testify." (Initial Brief of Appellant, pg 38)

Contrary to Davis' assertions, his allegation is specifically refuted by the testimony of trial counsel Austin Maslanik. In response to an inquiry as to whether he ever talked to Davis about testifying in the penalty phase of the trial, Maslanik stated, "Yes, I had." (PCR 4/511) Maslanik further testified that his procedure is to talk to the client about testifying in guilt and penalty phase. He would give them his advice but if they insisted, the ultimate decision was theirs to make. He testified that his notes reflect that he and Davis discussed what Davis could tell the jury about his life and how he feels about Kimberly's death. (PCR 4/512) He also noted that Davis never told him he wanted to testify.² (PCR 4/531)

Similarly, Davis has not asserted to this Court that he actually wanted to testify. Davis merely asserts that he had a right to testify and if Norgard had allowed the court to inquire, he "might have spoken to the jury with 'halting eloquence' about his degrading child sexual abuse [which] would have been far more persuasive to a jury than a 'disinterested

 $^{^2}$ Co-counsel, Robert Norgard testified that Maslanik was lead counsel and that he had no recollection of talking to the defendant about testifying. (PCR 4/587)

mental health person.'" (Initial Brief of Appellant, page 38, emphasis added) A bare allegation that he "might" have wanted to testify is clearly insufficient to carry his burden of establishing prejudice. This coupled with the facts that Davis never expressed a desire to testify, despite being clearly informed of his right to do so by the court and by counsel, and that no evidence was presented that Davis wanted to testify refutes any contention that Davis was denied the right to testify or the ineffective assistance of counsel. Accordingly, the trial court properly denied the claim.

ISSUE II

WHETHER THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN DENYING DAVIS' CLAIM THAT TRIAL COUNSEL RENDERED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL BY FAILING TO PRESENT ANY EVIDENCE OR EXPERT TESTIMONY ON THE ISSUE OF THE DEFENDANT HAVING SUFFERED POST TRAUMATIC STRESS DUE то EXTENSIVE SEXUAL ABUSE.

Appellant phrases his next claim as a claim that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to present any evidence or expert testimony on the issue of the defendant having suffered post traumatic stress due to extensive sexual abuse. Nevertheless, he acknowledges that trial counsel did present two mental health experts who testified that Davis was suffering from post traumatic stress syndrome. He contends, however, that the experts were not sufficiently qualified and that another expert would have been able to get more information about his child sexual abuse and given the jury a better explanation as to why he committed the crime. Current counsel's disagreement with trial counsel's strategic decisions, does not establish a basis for relief. See Cherry v. State, 659 So. 2d 1069, 1073 (Fla. 1995) (concluding that present counsel's disagreements as to strategy does not necessarily satisfy Strickland because standard is not how present counsel would have, in hindsight, proceeded); Occhicone v. State, 768 So. 2d 1037, 1048 (Fla. 2000) (Counsel cannot be deemed ineffective merely because current counsel disagrees with trial counsel's strategic See also Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689 ("A fair decisions.) assessment of attorney performance requires that every effort be made to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight....") Moreover, strategic decisions do not constitute ineffective counsel if alternative courses assistance of have been considered and rejected and counsel's decision was reasonable under the norms of professional conduct. See Occhicone at 1048; <u>Rutherford v. State</u>, 727 So. 2d 216, 223 (Fla. 1999); <u>State v.</u> Bolender, 503 So. 2d 1247, 1250 (Fla. 1987). As the following will establish Davis is not entitled to relief on this claim.

This claim was addressed at the evidentiary hearing below

and was denied by the trial court on the following basis:

IIC. Trial Counsel rendered ineffective assistance of counsel by failing to present any evidence or expert testimony on the issue of the Defendant having suffered posttraumatic stress.

Davis claims that trial counsel did not present any evidence that Davis suffered from Post Traumatic Stress Disorder in the penalty phase. Additionally, Davis claims that Dr. McLane was not qualified as an expert on Post Traumatic Stress Disorder and this prejudiced Davis.

Maslanik testified that Dr. McLane did testify during the penalty phase on Post Traumatic Stress Disorder. The Court finds that Dr. McLane testified that Davis was diagnosed with PTSD. (R. at 2851), McLane also described to the jury the effects of PTSD. (R. at 2863). Maslanik testified that he believed Dr. McLane's overall qualifications would qualify him to render an opinion on PTSD. Additionally, Dr. Harry Krop, PhD testified that Davis was diagnosed with PTSD and described PTSD to the jury. (R. at 2343.) Accordingly, this claim is DENIED.

Additionally, the record shows that the trial court recognized two of the mental health experts had found the existence of post traumatic stress syndrome and that it, along with a variety of other factors, established the statutory mitigating factor of extreme mental or emotional distress. With regard to this factor the sentencing order states:

MITIGATING FACTORS

Statutory Mitigation Factors:

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